### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL	AUGU	JSTUS	HOWELL,		:
		Appe	ellant,		:
vs.					:
STATE	OF	FLOR	IDA,		2
		App	ellee.		:
					-

Case No. 85,193

FILED 2 (n. 197 DEC 4 1994 

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR JEFFERSON COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. NORGARD ATTORNEY AT LAW FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 322059

POST OFFICE BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33831 (941) 533-8556

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

# TOPICAL

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, PAUL AUGUSTUS HOWELL, was the Defendant in the lower court. He will be referred to as "Appellant" or by name in this brief.

Appellee, the State of Florida, is the prosecuting authority in both the lower court and the instant proceedings.

The record on appeal consists of Thirty Eight Volumes. Volumes One through Thirty are numbered, and shall be designated "R". Volumes Thirty One through Thirty Four contain investigative reports, which had been sealed by the lower court pending appeal. Volumes Thirty Four and Thirty Five include a list of exhibits. The last three Volumes on appeal are the Supplemental Records on Appeal, Volumes One through Three, and will be referred to as "SR".

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, PAUL AUGUSTUS HOWELL, was charged by Indictment on February 19, 1992 with First Degree Murder (Count I); Making, Possessing, Placing or Discharging a Destructive Device, Death (Count II); Making, Possessing, Placing or Discharging a Destructive Device, Property Damage (Count III); and Possession of an Explosive Device (Count V). (R14-18) Also, charged in miscellaneous counts of this Indictment were Lester P. Watson, Leroy C. Williams and Patrick Howell. (R 14-18)

On February 17, 1992, the Public Defender's Office for the Second Judicial Circuit filed a Certification of Conflict of Interest and Motion for Appointment of Separate Counsel in Appellant's case. (R13) On February 21, 1992, Frank Sheffield filed his Notice of Appearance. (R27)

On March 18, 1993, the State filed a Motion to Disqualify Counsel. (R304-308) On April 17, 1993, a letter from Appellant to the trial court was filed requesting the appointment of specific substitute counsel for various reasons. (R310) On April 16, 1993, a hearing was held on the issues raised in the Appellant's letter and the State's motion. (R446-456, R1196-1206) The trial court denied the State's Motion to Disqualify Counsel and Appellant's request for substitute counsel. (R454-456)

On June 4, 1993, the State filed a Motion to Rehear the Motion to Disqualify Counsel. (R322-330) On June 10, 1993, Frank Sheffield filed a Response to Motion to Rehear, (R331-333) On November 18, 1993, excerpts from a Federal jury trial were filed,

which provided details regarding Sheffield's removal from the representation of Appellant in that case. (R359-393) On November 19, 1993, a hearing was held on this matter. (R1226-1250) The trial court denied the request to disqualify Sheffield and appoint substitute counsel. (R1250)

On August 18, 1994, Appellant filed a Motion to Appoint Second Attorney. (R777-780) On August 22, 1994, a hearing was held on this motion. (R1402-1409) The trial court denied this motion. (R1407-1409)

On September 16, 1994, Appellant again expressed his dissatisfaction with Sheffield and indicated he wanted substitute counsel for various reasons. (R1497-1548) On September 19, 1994, Sheffield raised matters regarding problems between Appellant and him, and an indicated that Appellant wanted to assert his right of self-representation. (R1549-1613) During this hearing Appellant stated that he had cooperated with Sheffield contrary to Sheffield's assertions, and that he had a conflict with Sheffield. (R1561-1601) The trial court made a limited inquiry into these matters. (R1549-1613)

On September 21, 1994, a letter from Appellant addressed "To Whom It May Concern" was filed that further detailed problems between him and Sheffield. (R924) On October 10, 1994, Sheffield on Appellant's behalf requested that he be removed from the case. (121647) Appellant also personally requested that Sheffield be removed from the case based on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, and that substitute counsel be appointed. (R1647-1649)

The trial court failed to make a proper inquiry into these matters. (R1647-1650) Sheffield on Appellant's behalf also requested that Appellant's letter of September 21, 1994 be treated as a Motion for Recusal of the Trial Judge. (R1647) The trial court denied this motion. (R1648-1649)

On September 19, 1994, jury selection began in Jefferson County. (R 1612) On September 26, 1996, the State filed a Joinder in Defendant's Motion for Change of Venue. (R 927-930) On October 11, 1994, Nunc Pro Tunc September 26, 1994, the trial court signed an Order Granting Mistrial and Change of Venue. (R972-973)

On January 10, 1995, the State filed a document entitled Counts III and IV Nolle Prosequi to confirm the State's announcement at the time of trial. (R1107) It should be noted that based on the way the Counts are numbered in the Indictment, the IV should actually have been V. (R14-18) Thus the Counts pending for trial for Appellant were Counts I and II. (R 1654-1655)

On October 10 and 11, 1994, jury selection took place in Escambia County and a jury was selected for the trial. (R1651-2094) The guilt phase of the trial was conducted October 12 through October 18, 1994. (R2106-3123) On October 18, 1994, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged in Counts I and II of the Indictment. (R975-978) On this date the jury also returned a Special Verdict finding the charge of First Degree Murder was established by both proof of premeditated design and felony murder. (R979)

The penalty phase of the trial was conducted on October 21, 1994. (R3191-3272) Although there was only one homicide victim,

the State sought the death penalty under alternative theories, towit Count I, First Degree Murder; and Count II, Making, Possessing, Placing or Discharging a Destructive Device Resulting in Death, both capital felonies. (R 14-18) On October 21, 1994, the jury on Counts I and II returned an Advisory Sentence recommending the death penalty by a vote of 10-2. (R1022-1024)

A Sentencing Hearing was held December 19,1995. (R3273-3278)

On January 10, 1995, Appellant filed a Sentencing Memorandum. (R1110-1119) On the same date, Appellant also filed a number of mitigation letters. (R1120-1128) On January 10, 1995, the State filed a sentencing memorandum in the form of a letter. (R1129-1133)

On January 10, 1995, Appellant was adjudicated guilty of Count I, First Degree Murder, and sentenced to death. (R1071-1074, 3334-3345) The trial court did not impose sentence on Count II, since the charges in Counts I and II arose from a single underlying offense. (R1097) Also on January 10, 1995, the trial court filed its Findings in Support of the Sentence of Death. (R1097-1106)

On February 6, 1995, the State wrote to the trial court indicating that Appellant did request age as a mitigator and the trial court rejected the request. (R1134) On February 13, 1995 the trial court filed its Amended Findings in Support of the Sentence of Death. (R1152-1161)

On February 7, 1995, Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (R1135-1136)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The instant case arose from the death of Trooper Jim Fulford, a Florida Highway Patrolman. Trooper Fulford was killed by a bomb which was in the trunk of a car being driven by Lester Watson and Curtis Williams. Trooper Fulford had pulled the vehicle over. No witnesses were present at the time of the explosion.

Betty Odom testified she is a duty officer with the Florida Highway Patrol. (R2566) She handles radio calls for the troopers. (R2566-2567) Odom knew the victim, Trooper James Fulford. (R2567)

Odom testified that on February 1, 1995 at 3:47 P.M. Fulford radioed Odom that he had a car stopped at Interstate 4 and State Road 257. (R2568) Fulford had Odum run a registration and stolen car check on the car, and driver's license and warrants check on Lester Paul Williams (a false name used by Lester Watson) and Curtis Lee Williams. (R2568-2570) Neither person had a record of a drivers's license. (R2569-2570)

Odom testified that at 4:08 P.M. she received another Fulford radioed and asked her to call the rental car company about the authorized drivers for the car. (R2570) Odom radioed this information to Fulford. (R2571) Odom then called a tow truck for the car. (R2572)

Odom further testified that she then called Appellant. (R2572) Appellant advised Odom he did not know Curtis Williams, but that he had loaned the car to Lester Williams, but that he did not know Lester Williams was traveling that far in the car. (R2573) Odom told Appellant that Lester Williams was being taken to the

Jefferson County Jail, and she gave Appellant the phone number of the jail. (R2573)

Wallace Blount testified he is a patrol sergeant with the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office. (R2548) Blount knew the victim Jimmy Fulford, who worked with the Florida Highway Patrol. (R2548) On February 1, 1992, at approximately 4:00 P.M. Blount and Jefferson County Sheriff's Office Sergeant Robert Harrell assisted Trooper Fulford with a traffic stop he had made on Interstate 4 and County Road 257 in Jefferson County, Florida involving a Mitsubishi occupied by two black males. (R2548-2552) The trunk of the car was open, and Blount observed a large vinyl suitcase, a child's toy, and a gift wrapped package. (R2552)

Blount learned the driver was under arrest for no valid driver's license. (R2552-2553) Blount transported the arrested black male to the Jefferson County Jail, as well as giving the other black male a ride. (R2553-2555)

Blount, while at the jail, heard a radio call regarding an explosion involving a death at Interstate 4 and County Road 257. Harrell told Blount that Fulford was the victim. (R2555)

Robert Harrell testified he is a K-9 Sergeant with the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office. (R2556-2557) Harrell knew the victim, Jimmy Fulford. (R2557) On February 1, 1992, Harrell and Blount assisted Fulford with a traffic stop he had made on Interstate 4 and County road 257 in Jefferson County, Florida, involving a Mitsubishi Gallant driven by a black male with a black male passenger. (R2558-2559) Harrell assisted Fulford in a

preliminary search of the car. (R2559-2560) During the search Harrell observed miscellaneous items, including a gray suitcase, a child's toy, and gift wrapped box in the trunk. (R2561-2562)

Harrell left the scene after the preliminary search and before any arrest of the black male driver was made, and went to the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office. (R2560-2562) While at the Sheriff's Office, Harrell heard a radio call regarding an explosion resulting in a death at Interstate 4 and County Road 257. (R2563) Barrell and Blount went back to this area.(2563) Harrell observed miscellaneous things at the scene including the Mitsubishi, Fulford's car, Fulford's body, and scattered items of Fulford's personal property. (R2563-2564)

Clarence Parker testified he knew the victim, Trooper James Fulford. (R2858) On February 1, 1992, Parker went to the explosion scene after receiving a call on his CB radio and observed Fulford's car, the car Fulford stopped, and Fulford's body. (R2585-2586)

Parker also testified that two other people arrived about the same time as him. (R2585) Parker and the others moved the vehicles, because of a brushfire caused by the explosion. (R2586-2587) Parker then radioed that Fulford had been in an accident. (R2587-2588) Parker next began beating out the fire. (R2588)

Thomas Wood testified he is a medical doctor specializing in pathology. He is employed as an associate medical examiner for the Second Judicial Circuit. (R2789-2790) Wood then testified regarding his duties and experience in these areas of medicine.

(R2789-2791) Wood was found to be an expert in the areas of pathology and forensic pathology. (R2791)

Wood then explained the purpose of an autopsy and stated that he did the autopsy on Fulford. (R2791) During the autopsy Wood recovered certain evidence from the body, including a number of metallic particles, a bolt with a nut on it, and portions of paint or plastic. (R2792) Wood also identified two autopsy photographs of the body and a photograph of the body at the scene , which were admitted into evidence. (R2792-2793)

Wood then testified about what he did during the autopsy. (R2793-2794) Wood's examination revealed a very complex and complicated pattern of trauma which included trauma to numerous parts of the body. (R2795-2800) This trauma in all likelihood occurred due to an explosion while the Trooper was very close to the center of the explosive force. (R2798-2800) The cause of death was as a result of the massive trauma. (R2799) The death was very, very quick. (R2800)

Glen Anderson testified that in February 1992, he was an explosive and arson investigator with the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms (BATF). (R2594-2595) Anderson then testified regarding his training and experience. (R2595-2596)

Anderson stated that on February 1, 1992, the BATF was requested to assist in this case. Anderson was appointed as team leader. (R2596-2597)

On February 1, 1992, Anderson had a witness to the scene, Danny Gibson, reconstruct the scene with respect to the location of

the cars and body. (R2598) Anderson next set up a search of the entire area of the blast. (R2599-2601, R2604) Once the search was completed, a crime scene sketch was done, the evidence was photographed, the evidence was collected. (R2601-2606)

Anderson then testified they went back to the scene the next day to make sure they had everything. (R2506-2607) Based on an examination of the collected evidence, it was determined that a pipe bomb was involved and that one of the end caps was missing. (R2607-2608) The missing end cap was never found. (R2610)

Anderson attended Fulford's autopsy for the purpose of assisting the pathologist with evidence collection. (R2609) Anderson viewed and photographed the body. (R2609-2610)

Anderson also testified that the Trooper's car and the rental car were transported to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement laboratory and searched. (R2610-2611)

Anderson stated that some aircraft wire was found at the scene, which may have been part of a triggering device. (R2612-2613) This evidence, as well as all the other evidence, was sent to the lab for analysis. (R2612)

Joe Sorci testified that he is a special agent with the BATF. (R2613) On February 1, 1992, he was dispatched to the explosion scene and was assigned to be the evidence custodian. (R2614-2615)

Sorci also testified that he was present during the search for evidence, and the collection of the evidence. (R2615) The evidence was sent to the BATF Atlanta laboratory for analysis. (R2615-2616)

Sorci further testified that a search was done of the vehicles. (R2622)

Laura Schlater testified she is a special agent with the BATF. (R2626-2627) On February 1, 1992, she was dispatched to the scene of the explosion, and assisted with the collection of evidence at that scene. (R2627) She collected evidence from the cars which had been removed from the scene. (R2627) She also collected evidence at the autopsy. (R2630)

Jim Gettemy testified he is a Senior Crime Laboratory Analyst with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) Tallahassee Regional Crime Laboratory. (R2633) On February 1, 1992, Gettemy was dispatched to the explosion scene. (R2633) He decided to call BATF for assistance. (R2633-2634) Once BATF arrived, Gettemy was primarily assigned to videotape and photograph the scene. (R2634)

Lloyd Erwin is a forensic chemist with BATF.(R2835) He examined the evidence collected from the scene and determined that an explosive device had been involved. (R2839) Pieces of a microwave oven and a pipe were identified in the evidence collected. (R2841) Certain component parts of the explosive device matched items recovered from Appellant's house. (R2866-2888)

Joe Hanlin is an explosives expert with BATF. (R2892) Hanlin concluded that a pipe bomb concealed inside a microwave oven had detonated. (R2898,2901-2902) The pipe bomb was designed to detonate when the door of the microwave oven was opened. (R2934) Hanlin opined that Trooper Fulford was kneeling on one knee,

holding the microwave in his hands and attempting to remove nylon tape that was wrapped around it when it detonated. (R2947)

John O'Neill is a toolmarks expert. (R2961-2962) He examined wire cutters and other tools taken from Appellant's house and compared them with items from the crime scene. (R2962-2975) Matches were made between components found at the scene and items found at Appellant's house. (R2962-2975) Appellant's tools left marks on items recovered at the scene. (R2962-2975)

Bobby Kinsey is a special agent with the FDLE. (R2644) Kinsey played a tape recording for Hentley Morgan. (R2645)

Harold Murphy testified he is a sergeant with the Florida Highway Patrol. (R2588-2589) Murphy was dispatched to and observed the scene of the explosion. (R2589-2590)

Murphy was then dispatched to the Jefferson County Jail where he received a phone call from Appellant. (R2590-2591) Appellant asked about the rental car. Murphy obtained information from Appellant, such as his address, driver's license number, that he had been in the military, and that he had loaned the car to Lester. (R2591-2592)

Murphy then received a second phone call from Appellant. Appellant gave Murphy additional information regarding Lester and how he came to have the rental car. (R2592-2593) Appellant indicated he rented cars for people because he had a credit card. Appellant denied any knowledge of the cars' being used to transport drugs. (R2593) Murphy determined that Lester Watson had given the fake name Lester Williams. (R2594)

Dennis Williamson testified he is a special agent with the FDLE. (R2713) Williamson participated in the search of the explosion, and located the heel of a shoe. (R2417)

Williamson also testified that he was involved in an interview of Lester Watson. (R2714) During the interview Kinsey pointed out and Williamson recovered a piece of paper which Watson had dropped on the floor. (R2714-2715) The piece of paper and a blown up photograph of the piece of paper were admitted into evidence. (R2715-2716). The paper had numbers written on it, which through the interview process were determined to be a phone number written in reverse. (R2716)

Lester Watson testified that he lived in the same neighborhood in Ft. Lauderdale as a number of people connected to the case. (R2650-2654) Watson knows Patrick Howell, Appellant, Michael Morgan, William West, and Charles Sinclair. (R2651-2654) Watson has been convicted of four felonies. (R2654) Watson was indicted for murder along with Appellant, and was testifying pursuant to a plea agreement. (R2654-2655)

Watson testified that in early September, 1991, he went to South Carolina with Patrick Howell, Yolanda McCallister and others to deal drugs. (R2655-2656) The trip was made in a car rented by Appellant. (R2656) The drugs were put in the rental car by Patrick Howell after he received them from Appellant. (R2656-2657) Watson also testified regarding a telephone they used while in South Carolina.(R2657)

Watson further testified that he made another trip to South Carolina with Patrick Howell and Hentley Morgan to deal drugs. (R2658) Watson identified the motels they stayed at in South Carolina. (R2658) When Patrick Howell and Morgan returned to Ft. Lauderdale, Watson stayed in South Carolina for about a month, because of a disagreement over drugs with Patrick Howell resulting in a bad relationship between Watson and Patrick Howell and Appellant. (R2658-2859)

Watson then testified that he learned Patrick Howell was arrested, and that he resumed friendly relations with Appellant. (R2659) Watson was present when Appellant received packages of money sent by Morgan from South Carolina. (R2660)

Watson also testified that Appellant had a room in his house where he would work on electronic equipment. (R2661-2662) Appellant would make pipe bombs. (R2662-2663) Watson heard the pipe bombs go off in the neighborhood and, on one occasion, Watson and Trevor Sealey set off a pipe bomb for Appellant that he had made. (R2662-2664) On another occasion Appellant showed Watson a dumpster which had been damaged by one of Appellant's pipe bombs. (R2667-2668)

Watson testified that in late 1991 he had another falling out with Appellant when Appellant accused Watson of stealing money from him, but they again developed friendly relations. (R2664-2665) Watson went with Appellant when Appellant bought some pipe. (R2665-2666) Watson later went back and got some more pipe for Appellant

and, on another occasion, went back and got some steel coupling parts for Appellant. (R2667-2668)

Watson further testified that he bought a pager for Appellant. (R2668-2670) Watson also wired money to Tammie Bailey in Marianna for Appellant on two occasions. (R2670-2672, R2673-2675) Appellant would use Watson's mother's phone and on one occasion Appellant had Watson attempt to call Yolanda McCallister for him. (R2672-2673)

Watson went with Appellant to purchase a microwave oven. (R2674-2678) Watson gave the clerk the money and used the fake name of "Ken Williams" on the receipt and pick-up log. (R2674-2677)

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