IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 5 1997

PAUL HOWELL,

Appellant,

CLERK, SPOSEME COURT

Oniel Deputy Clerk

 \mathbf{v} .

CASE NO. 85,193

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR JEFFERSON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 300179

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

circumstance is within the court's discretion. <u>Sochor v State</u>, 619 So.2d 285, 293 (Fla. 1993). Indeed, in <u>Sochor</u>, this Court found no error in the sentencer's conclusion that the defendant's family and personal history was so insignificant as to fail to constitute mitigation at all. Here, the sentencer did not abuse his discretion in affording Appellant's family activities minimal weight. As the court correctly noted, Howell chose to conduct his bomb-making activities in the family home; a great amount of bomb-making materials were removed from the home at the time of Howell's arrest, and Howell actually detonated bombs in the backyard, leaving behind "craters" (R 2330-2334, 2353-2361, 2367, 2507-2511, 2516, 2662, 2751, 2815-2820, 2823-2831). No abuse of discretion has been demonstrated <u>sub</u> judice.

Howell's final claim relates to the sentencer's rejection of the mitigating circumstance relating to any alleged disparity between Appellant's sentence and that of former co-defendants Patrick Howell and Lester Watson. Judge Steinmeyer's finding that Paul Howell was 'by far the most culpable of those involved" is clearly supported by the record. Patrick Howell was in jail at the time of the murder, and the only evidence which linked him to the bombing, as opposed to the drug trafficking and the murder of Alphonso Tillman, was the uncorroborated testimony of a cellmate,

which, for purposes of Paul Howell's sentence, the State was not obliged to accept. Cf. Walls v. State, 641 So.2d 381, 387 (Fla. 1994). None of the witnesses produced by the State offered any testimony consistent with this allegation, and some specifically testified to statements made by Appellant in which he alone took responsibility for this offense (R 2362-2363, 2516, 2747, 2770-2771). As to Lester Watson, there was, as Judge Steinmeyer noted, no definitive proof that Watson knew beforehand that he was carrying a bomb, and Appellant's own statements indicate that he did not know such fact; while incarcerated, Howell lamented to one of his cellmates that if only Watson had gone into the taped-up package looking for drugs, and gotten his own head 'blown off", Appellant "wouldn't be in such a mess" (R 2770).

It is well established that while disparate treatment of an equally culpable co-defendant may render a defendant's sentence disproportionate, disparate treatment is not impermissible when it is the defendant who is the more culpable. See Larzelere, supra; Cardona v. State, 641 So.2d 361, 365 (Fla. 1994); Hannon v. State, 638 So.2d 39, 44 (Fla. 1994); Hoffman, 494 So.2d 1178, 1182 (Fla. 1985) (it is permissible to impose different sentences on capital defendants whose various degrees of participation and culpability are different from one another). There can be no

question that Paul Howell was the dominant force behind this homicide, and the fact that the prosecution entered into plea bargains with other less culpable participants does not mitigate Appellant's sentence or render it disproportionate. See Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360, 368 (Fla. 1986); Diaz v. State, 513 So.2d 1045, 1049 (Fla. 1987). Finally, to the extent that error has been demonstrated as to this portion of the claim, or any other, such was surely harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, given the overwhelming and substantial aggravation. See, e.g., Cook v. State, 581 So.2d 141, 144 (Fla. 1991); Wickham v. State, 593 So.2d 191, 194 (Fla. 1991); Wuornos v, State, 644 So.2d 1000, 1011 (Fla. 1994). The instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

<u>ISSUE IV</u>

FINDING OF THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE RELATING TO GREAT RISK WAS NOT ERROR

In sentencing Appellant to death, Judge Steinmeyer found that five (5) aggravating circumstances had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt - that Howell had knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons, under §921.141(5)(c), Fla.Stat. (1993); that the homicide had been committed during the course of an enumerated capital felony, under §921.141(5)(d), Fla.Stat. (1993);

that the homicide had been committed for purposes of avoiding a lawful arrest, under §921.141(5) (e), Fla.Stat. (1993); that the homicide had been committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification, under §921.141(5) (i), Fla.Stat. (1993), and that the victim of the homicide was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties, under §921.141(5)(j), Fla.Stat.(1993). Each of these aggravating circumstances is attacked on appeal. See Issues V, VI, VII and VIII, infra. In this point on appeal, Howell contends that this aggravating circumstance was wrongfully applied, because the trooper 'was alone when the explosion occurred" (Initial Brief at 75), and because the court below allegedly engaged in speculation when it examined the number of persons who would have been at great risk had the bomb reached its intended destination (R 1153-1154). Accordingly, Appellant contends that his sentence of death must be vacated.

The State disagrees, and would contend that the record in this case contains two independent bases for affirming this aggravating circumstance. The prosecutor argued below that this aggravating circumstance was properly supported by evidence establishing that Tammie Bailey, one of the intended victims, lived in a duplex with her child and a cousin; additionally, a mother with two small

children lived on the other side of the duplex. It apparently was Howell's intent that the other victim, Yolanda McAllister, be present, as well as Lester Watson; Watson had been instructed to contact McAllister upon his arrival in Marianna, so that she could lead him to Bailey. The prosecutor noted that the explosive expert had testified that the effect of the blast would have been intensified had it detonated in an enclosed area such as the duplex (R 1130).

These facts are supported by the record, and validate the finding of this aggravating circumstance. Tammie Bailey testified that in January of 1992, she had moved to a new home on Orange Street in Marianna (R 2454); a police officer described the site as a duplex (R 2832), and further testimony was adduced to the effect that a woman with two children lived on the other side of the duplex (R 3199). Appellant knew that Ms. Bailey had a baby (R 2444), and during one of their telephone conversations, Ms. Bailey told Howell that she needed a microwave in order to heat up the baby's bottles (R 2457); Appellant had also apparently asked Yolanda McAllister if Ms. Bailey needed a microwave (R 2245). Appellant had originally solicited Trevor Sealey to take the explosive present up to Marianna to give to the two girls whom he described as "snitching on his brother" (R 2362); likewise,

Appellant told William West that he had sent Lester Watson to Marianna with a pipe bomb in a microwave because he had become upset with Bailey and McAllister (R 2513-2516). The explosives expert testified that Howell had constructed a very sophisticated and powerful device and had maximized its destructive potential (R 2956). He stated that had the bomb been detonated in an enclosed structure such as Ms. Bailey's duplex, the doors and windows would have been blown off and the house would have burned to the ground, due to the bomb's "secondary incendiary effect" (R 2952-2953). It is clear that, had this bomb reached its intended target(s), the criteria for this aggravating circumstance would have been satisfied. See, e.g., Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159, 1164 (Fla. 1981) (aggravating circumstance properly found where defendant set fire to condominium with six persons inside).

On appeal, Howell contends, essentially, that because, no thanks to him, the bomb did not go off as originally intended, this aggravating circumstance should not be applied <u>sub fudice</u>. s o m e extent, this would seem to be a question of first impression, although it should be noted that it is well established that transferred intent can properly be utilized to support the finding of aggravating circumstances. <u>See Provenzano v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 1177, 1183 (Fla. 1986) (cold, calculated and premeditated

aggravator could be found in case where persons other than intended victim were killed); Sweet v. State, 624 So.2d 1138, 1142 (Fla. 1993) (both CCP and avoid arrest aggravators could be found even where intended victim not killed). On the basis of these precedents, the finding of this aggravating circumstance should be affirmed.

Alternatively, Appellee would suggest that this aggravating circumstance can properly be based upon the actions which Howell took in regard to the explosion which actually did take place. bomb which Howell built was designed to kill whoever opened the door of the microwave (R 2935), and Howell himself told Charles Sinclair that if anyone touched the booby-trapped microwave "the wrong way," "it was supposed to go off." (R 2746-2747). Significantly, Howell made this remark after he learned that Watson had been stopped for speeding in Jefferson County and arrested, and it must be noted that Howell had the opportunity to prevent this explosion, and chose to do nothing. Following Watson's arrest, the Florida Highway Patrol duty officer called Appellant and asked him if he knew Watson or Curtis Williams, the passenger whom Watson had picked up (R 2572-2573). Appellant stated that he had lent the car to Watson, but that he did not know 'he was coming this far in the vehicle" (R 2573). Appellant asked where Watson was being taken,

and he was told that he would be taken to the Jefferson County Jail. Appellant asked for the telephone number there, and also told the officer that he had left a baby bottle behind in the car on the day before (R 2573-2575).

While Appellant is correct in noting that this Court has disapproved the finding of this aggravating circumstance when based upon "what might have occurred," see, e.g., King v. State, 514 So.2d 354, 360 (Fla. 1987) (factor stricken when defendant set fire to house with victim as its only occupant, and two firemen suffered from smoke inhalation), this Court, no doubt fortunately, has never been presented with a case in which a defendant committed murder by means of an explosive device of this magnitude. Appellant Howell constructed an extremely sophisticated and lethal bomb, which he knowingly placed into the stream of commerce; Appellant's intent was that the bomb travel on major interstate highways from Ft. Lauderdale to Marianna, a voyage which would take it virtually the length and breadth of the state of Florida. In Appellant's own words, the bomb would go off if someone touched it "the wrong way" (R 2746-2747). The State would maintain that Howell's actions, and failure to act, gave rise to a great risk of danger to many persons <u>per se</u>.

In <u>Xamwff v. State</u>, 371 So.2d 1007, 1009-1010 (Fla, 1979), this Court held that when the Legislature chose the words used to establish this aggravating circumstance, it indicated clearly that more was contemplated than a showing of some degree of risk of bodily harm to a few persons:

'Great Risk' means not a mere possibility but a likelihood or high probability. The great risk of death created by the capital felon's actions must be to 'many' persons. By using the word 'many', the Legislature intended that a great risk of death to a small number of people would not establish this aggravating circumstance.

See also Williams v. State, 574 So.2d 136, 138 (Fla. 1991) (factor properly found only where, beyond any reasonable doubt, the actions of the defendant created an immediate and present risk of death to many persons). These criteria are satisfied <u>sub judice</u>.

Appellant's creation and transmission of this bomb created a high probability of the risk of immediate death to many persons. The explosive expert testified that the bomb in this case produced an "extremely violent explosion," which, of course, literally blew the victim, Trooper Fulford, to pieces; portions of his left leg were found one hundred and fifty feet away from the blast site, and the heel of one of his shoes was found on the other side of the highway, a good distance from the site (R 2717, 2945-2946). The

explosion itself caused a fire, and portions of the bomb were found embedded in two vehicles, parked alongside of the exit ramp of the interstate (R 2555, 2564, 2586, 2611, 2838). In <u>Delap v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 1242, 1256-1257 (Fla. 1983), this Court approved the finding of this aggravating circumstance where the defendant was struggling with the victim as to two drove down the highway; this Court held,

There were numerous vehicles on the highway and defendant should have reasonably foreseen that his erratic driving and possible loss of control of the car would have created a 'great risk' of danger to many persons, including the risk of crashes, possible harm to neighbors and to police responding to the same.

With all due respect to David Delap, his actions pale into insignificance when compared with those of Appellant Howell. The circuit court's finding of this aggravating circumstance should be approved.

Alternatively, should this Court disagree, Appellee would contend that any error in the finding of this aggravating circumstance was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 535 (Fla. 1987), given the remaining substantial aggravation and minimal mitigation. See, e.g., Dailey v. State, 659 So.2d 246 (Fla. 1995) (death sentence affirmed, even after striking of two aggravating circumstances, where three

remained to outweigh "numerous mitigating circumstances"); Peterka
V. State, 640 So.2d 59, 71-72 (Fla. 1994) (trial court's error in considering and finding two aggravating circumstances harmless, given existence of three other valid factors and unpersuasive mitigation); Wyatt v. State, 641 So.2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994) (elimination of two aggravating factors harmless error, given fact that three factors remained to outweigh minimal mitigation); Castrov. State, 644 So.2d 987, 991 (Fla. 1994) (striking one aggravating circumstance harmless error when three remained and 'weak case" for mitigation); Geralds v. State, 674 So.2d 96, 104-105 (Fla. 1996) (striking one aggravating circumstance harmless error where two remained and little weight afforded to statutory and nonstatutory mitigators). The instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

ISSUE V

FUNDAMENTAL ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED IN REGARD TO THE SENTENCER'S FINDING THAT THE HOMICIDE WAS COMMITTED DURING AN ENUMERATED FELONY

As one of the five aggravating circumstances in this case, Judge Steinmeyer found that the instant homicide had been committed during the commission of the felony of making, possessing, placing or discharging an explosive device, an enumerated felony under

§921.141(5)(d), Fla.Stat. (1993) (R 1154-1155). On appeal, Howell contends that this finding was error because this aggravating circumstance fails to sufficiently narrow the class of those eligible for the death penalty, and, hence, is "automatic" (Initial Brief at 77-80). While recognizing that this Court has previously rejected this identical argument in such precedents as <u>Johnson v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, Appellant suggests that such holding is in error and must be re-examined. There are a number of reasons why this Court should decline to reach Appellant's argument.

Initially, the State would question whether any claim of error has been preserved for review. Although Appellant filed a pretrial motion attacking this aggravating circumstance on the grounds now asserted (R 44-49), and such much motion was denied (SR 119), no objection was interposed at the penalty phase charge conference, although defense counsel objected to instruction on a number of other aggravating circumstances at that time (R 3132-3143); in fact, it would seem that defense counsel below stated that this aggravator "certainly applied" (R 3143). In Fspinosa v. State, 626 So.2d 165, 167 (Fla. 1993), this Court found that the defendant's pretrial motion in limine had been insufficient to preserve a constitutional challenge to the factor and/or the jury instruction involved, and that counsel's failure to object at trial resulted in

a procedural bar. Further, in <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 692, 696 (Fla. 1992), this Court relied upon <u>Espinosa</u> in finding this same claim (that the "committed during the course of a felony" aggravating circumstance was unconstitutionally broad) to be procedurally barred due to lack of objection at trial. <u>Thompson</u> clearly dictates that this claim is barred, as well.

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